RECEIVED 05-10-2017

STATE OF WISCONSIN

CLERK OF SUPREME COURT OF WISCONSIN

IN SUPREME COURT

Case No. 2016AP238-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

MICHAEL L. WASHINGTON,

Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner.

On review of a Decision of the Court of Appeals, District II, Affirming a Judgment and Order Entered in the Racine County Circuit Court, the Honorable David W. Paulson, Presiding

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT-PETITIONER

ANDREW R. HINKEL Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1058128

Office of the State Public Defender Post Office Box 7862 Madison, WI 53707-7862 (608) 267-1779 hinkela@opd.wi.gov

ISSUE PRESENTED

Michael L. Washington was tried *in absentia*—he was removed from the courtroom before voir dire and never returned. Did the court err in finding that Mr. Washington's conduct waived his statutory right to presence despite Wis. Stat. § 971.04(3), which permits such waiver only after trial has begun?

The circuit court held that Mr. Washington waived his right to presence.

The court of appeals affirmed the circuit court's conclusion.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Both oral argument and publication are customary for cases accepted by this court.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Mr. Washington was charged with one count of burglary and one count of obstructing an officer (an additional count of attempted burglary was dismissed at the preliminary hearing). (2:1; 63:2-3). He was scheduled to be tried on February 14 and 15, 2012. On a previous trial date, a jury had been chosen, but not sworn, before the trial was adjourned at Mr. Washington's request. (62; 63:6-11). At a subsequent hearing, counsel testified the adjournment was requested in order to pursue a witness identified by Mr. Washington who, she learned, had died a few days before the adjourned trial. (68:22).

At the commencement of proceedings on February 14, Mr. Washington's counsel informed the court that Mr. Washington (who had previously sought to have her withdraw as counsel) would not discuss trial strategy with (65:2-5; 113-16). The court addressed her. App. Mr. Washington, who indicated that counsel was "not representing" him. (65:3; App. 114). The court, having noted that "we've been down this road so many times, over and over and over" stated that the trial would go forward as scheduled, at which point Mr. Washington interrupted:

DEFENDANT: I said she's not representing me and we ain't going no trial now, I mean that.

THE COURT: Sir, we will go forward with the trial and if necessary you may have to be removed from the courtroom.

DEFENDANT: I'm gone. She's not representing me.

THE COURT: Well the record and we're still on the record may reflect that Mr. Washington semi was removed and semi left on his own after the last outburst. So we are out of his presence right now. And the real issue that has come up here is one of manipulation. I think Mr. Washington has been trying to manipulate this case in my opinion for a very long period of time. We had selected a jury and prior to that jury being sworn not too long ago some new information was disclosed. The adjournment was granted so that that could be investigated. Since then I believe he has on two or three additional occasions attempted to discharge counsel and I've denied that motion saying we would be going forward. So we're going to have to decide how to proceed here and as I say the concern that I have is that there's no end in sight if we allow this to continue and allow him to continue with this type of manipulation.

(65:3-5; App. 114-16).

The court observed that it lacked equipment to allow Mr. Washington to take part in the trial from outside the room and expressed concern about leaving him unable to participate. (65:5; App. 116). It noted the procedure laid out in *State v. Divanovic*, 200 Wis. 2d 210, 546 N.W.2d 501 (Ct. App. 1996), which recommended that a disruptive defendant be escorted to the courtroom and warned that further outbursts would result in his removal, but also expressed concern that Mr. Washington would be "physically combative" if returned to the courtroom. (65:6-9; App. 117-20). The court recited the history of what it termed Mr. Washington's manipulation and inability to cooperate with counsel. (65:11-14; App. 122-25). It then determined the trial would proceed in Mr. Washington's absence with periodic check-ins to see whether Mr. Washington would join. (65:15-17; App. 126-28).

Mr. Washington's attorney was sent up to speak with him and explain that the trial would proceed without him, and he declined to return. (66:20-21). No further attempts to contact Mr. Washington were made on the first day of trial, which was taken up by voir dire. (66:21-78). Before the proceedings the next day, a deputy and Mr. Washington's attorney each spoke with Mr. Washington, who informed them he would not come to court. (67:2). The court asked Mr. Washington's counsel to tell him he should contact jail staff if he wished to come down; the record does not reveal whether she did so. (67:2). Midway through the second day, counsel again spoke with Mr. Washington and explained that his opportunity to testify was approaching; Mr. Washington told her that he understood his right to testify and did not want to do so, and did not want to participate in the trial. (67:73). Once again before the verdict was read, Mr. Washington declined to appear in the courtroom. (67:129). Mr. Washington was convicted. (66:135).

Mr. Washington was present at sentencing, but made no statement and instructed counsel not to make a recommendation. (67:11-12). The court sentenced him to a total of ten years of imprisonment, with five years of initial confinement and five of extended supervision. (67:26,32).

Mr. Washington filed a notice of intent to pursue postconviction relief and was appointed postconviction counsel. (33). That counsel filed a postconviction motion, which was denied; however a series of delays led the court of appeals to relieve Mr. Washington's original counsel of her representation and reinstate his postconviction deadline. (Orders of January 6, 2014, December 3, 2014, and May 7, 2015).

Undersigned counsel was appointed and filed a postconviction motion alleging that Mr. Washington's exclusion from his trial violated his statutory right to be present. (47). After a non-evidentiary hearing, the circuit court denied the motion. (69; 48; App. 129-39).

Mr. Washington appealed, (49), arguing as he had in the circuit court that a defendant cannot by absenting himself waive the statutory right to presence until after the jury has been sworn. *State v. Dwyer*, 181 Wis. 2d 826, 837, 512 N.W.2d 233 (Ct. App. 1994). The court of appeals affirmed Mr. Washington's conviction in a published opinion. *State v. Washington*, 2017 WI App 6, 373 Wis. 2d 214, 890 N.W.2d 592; App. 101-111. It held Mr. Washington had "made an express, affirmative, intentional choice" to be absent, thus waiving his right to be present. *Id.*, ¶18, App. 109. It distinguished *Dwyer* and other cases by asserting that the issue in those cases had been forfeiture, rather than waiver. *Id.*

This court granted Mr. Washington's petition for review.

ARGUMENT

Mr. Washington's trial *in absentia* in violated Wis. Stat. § 971.04, and his conviction must be reversed.

A. Introduction and standard of review.

Michael Washington was removed from the courtroom before his trial began and was not returned until he was sentenced. He never saw the jury that convicted him, and the jury never saw him.

Wisconsin Stat. § 971.04(3) does not permit trials in absentia, with one exception: once trial has commenced, a defendant cannot derail it by absenting himself: in that situation, the trial is to continue.

Mr. Washington was not tried in accord with this statute. He was not "present at the beginning of the trial," which is a necessary condition for the single statutory exception to apply. The state has never disputed that it violated the statute in trying Mr. Washington in this way. Instead, the state claims, and the courts below found, that Mr. Washington "waived" his statutory right to be present.

This position is contrary to the statute itself. As this court and the court of appeals have explained, the *statute* sets the conditions under which a defendant's absence from court may be deemed a waiver. The history of the statute shows that these conditions were deliberately chosen, and they were not met here. As such, Mr. Washington was unlawfully tried *in absentia*, and his conviction must be reversed.

The construction of Wis. Stat. § 971.04(3) is a question of law this court decides *de novo*. *State v. Nord*, 2001 WI App 48, ¶5, 241 Wis. 2d 387, 625 N.W.2d 302. While this court typically defers to the factual findings of a postconviction court, where, as here, the postconviction judge did not preside over the trial, this court reviews its factual findings *de novo*. *See State v. Herfel*, 49 Wis. 2d 513, 521, 182 N.W.2d 232 (1971).

B. Mr. Washington's absence from trial did not meet the Wis. Stat. § 971.04(3) conditions on waiver by conduct.

As noted above, Wis. Stat. § 971.04(3)¹ provides one exception to the rule that a defendant "shall be present" both "[d]uring voir dire" and "[a]t trial": when he or she "is present at the beginning of the trial and thereafter, during the progress of the trial or before the verdict of the jury has been returned into court, voluntarily absents himself or herself from the presence of the court without leave of the court." A trial "begins" when the jury is sworn. *State v. Koopmans*, 210 Wis. 2d 670, 678-79, 563 N.W.2d 528; *State v. Dwyer*, 181 Wis. 2d 826, 831, 836 512 N.W.2d 233 (1994).

This exception has not always been in the law. The predecessor statute, Wis. Stat. § 957.07 (1967), provided simply that "[a] defendant accused of a felony shall be personally present during the trial." By way of Wis. L. 1969, ch. 255, § 63, the legislature put the statute in substantially its current form. That legislative act contained notes from the Judicial Council, which had drafted the law. Regarding the new exception, the notes say it is "designed to prevent a defendant from stopping a trial which has commenced by

¹ This appeal concerns only Mr. Washington's statutory, rather than his constitutional, right to be present.

absenting himself." (App. 141). This note cites to the Florida criminal procedure rules, which at the time contained essentially identical language.²

The bill's notes, that is, confirm the plain language of the statute: the statutory exception to the general requirement of a defendant's presence applies only where a defendant departs after the trial "has commenced."

The plain language of the statute, as bolstered by this legislative history, would suffice to show Mr. Washington, who was escorted from the courtroom before trial (and indeed before voir dire) was tried contrary to statute. It is nevertheless worth noting that the statute's rule is a sensible one—one that reasonably balances the protection of a defendant's constitutional rights against the need for efficient administration of justice—and is of long standing. This was explained by the Supreme Court in *Crosby v. U.S.*, 506 U.S. 255 (1993), which interpreted the very similar rule established and followed by the federal courts.

In that case, the defendant, who had been notified of the date of his trial, cleaned out his house and apparently absconded (he had been living in Minnesota and was arrested six months after the trial in Florida). *Id.* at 256-57. The trial went on without him and he was convicted. The Supreme Court reversed and ordered a new trial, concluding that the trial had proceeded in violation of Rule 43 of the Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure. *Id.* at 262.

That rule required a defendant's presence at trial but provided an exception for a defendant "voluntarily absent

²See Fla. CrPR 1.180(b) at p. 143 (1969), available at http://fall.fsulawrc.com/collection/FlaStat/FlaStat1969/vol3/FlaStat1969 v3_OCR_Part3.pdf; App. 140.

after the trial has commenced." *Id.* at 258. The Court noted that the historical rule had been that, in felony cases, the right to presence could not be waived under any circumstances. *Id.* at 259. However, in *Diaz v. United States*, 223 U.S. 442 (1912), the Court had "authorized a limited exception to the general rule ... that was codified eventually in Rule 43": waiver could occur if a defendant voluntarily absented himself "after the trial has begun in his presence." *Id.* at 259-260.

Though the government urged the court to uphold the conviction, the Court concluded that Rule 43 "mean[s] what it says." *Id.* at 261. It also observed that the rule made sense: the cost of suspending a trial that has already begun will usually be higher than the cost of postponing a trial that has not started. *Id.* at 261. The defendant's presence during some portion of the trial also puts the defendant on notice that the trial is likely to continue—making the choice to depart more likely to be a knowing and voluntary waiver of the right to presence. *Id.* at 261-62. Finally, "a rule that allows an ongoing trial to continue when a defendant disappears deprives the defendant of the option of gambling on an acquittal knowing that he can terminate the trial if it seems that the verdict will go against him." *Id.* at 262.

Here, the legislature—like the drafters of the federal rule in *Crosby*—*could have* set different conditions on waiver by voluntary absence. The legislature *could have* written a statute permitting a trial to go forward where a defendant was absent from the very start (so long as the constitutional right to presence was knowingly and voluntarily waived, *see Divanovic*, 200 Wis. 2d at 220-21). It might have done so, for example, after *Dwyer*, 181 Wis. 2d at 831, 836, in which the court of appeals granted a new trial to a defendant who had voluntarily left the courtroom after being denied the

opportunity to hire a different lawyer. If this result offended the legislature, it could have changed the statute. (In fact, both the Florida rule on which ours was modeled and the Federal Rule interpreted in *Crosby* have since been amended to permit trial *in absentia* where the defendant engages in "disruptive" behavior. Fla. CRPr 3-180(c)(1) (2017); Fed. R. Crim. Pro. 43(c)(1)(C)).

Twenty-three years after *Dwyer*, however, the legislature has not done so. Like Rule 43 in *Crosby*, the statute still "says what it says"—that a defendant must be present for trial, but that a trial will go forward where a defendant is "present at the beginning of trial and thereafter ... voluntarily absents himself or herself ... without leave." Mr. Washington was not present at the beginning of trial. His absence thus did not satisfy Wis. Stat. § 971.04(3)'s conditions for waiver by voluntary absence. His conviction was obtained in violation of his statutory right to presence, and must be overturned.

Below, the state nevertheless insisted that Mr. Washington had waived³ his statutory right to be present—that he, by his absence, consented to trial *in absentia*. The problem with this argument—as the court of appeals noted in *Dwyer*—is that Wis. Stat. § 971.04(3)

³ As this court has often stated, "waiver" and "forfeiture" are distinct concepts, with "waiver" meaning "the intentional relinquishment or abandonment of a known right" and "forfeiture" meaning "the failure to make a timely assertion of a right." *State v. Ndina*, 2009 WI 21, ¶29, 315 Wis. 2d 653, 761 N.W.2d 612. This court held in *State v. Soto*, 2012 WI 93, ¶43, 343 Wis. 2d 43, 817 N.W.2d 848, that waiver, rather than forfeiture, is the means by which a criminal defendant may give up the right to presence.

expressly "delimits ... when [such] consent may be inferred by conduct: [when] the defendant is present at the beginning of trial...." *Dwyer*, 181 Wis. 2d at 837. If this statutory precondition is not met, there can be no waiver by conduct.

This same fact refutes the court of appeals' conclusion that Mr. Washington's convictions should be upheld because he made an "express, affirmative, intentional choice not to be present." Washington, 2016AP238-CR, ¶18; App. 109. As Mr. Washington noted below, the intentional nature of his actions is beside the point. Wisconsin Stat. § 971.04(3) is explicitly about "voluntary" absence, and the defendants in **Dwyer** and **Koopmans** just as clearly chose to be absent from court. Dwyer failed to return to court after a brief recess when her request for a new lawyer was denied. *Dwyer*, 181 Wis. 2d at 832. In Koopmans, the convicted defendant fled the country before sentencing; her attorney stipulated that she was a fugitive and that her absence was voluntary. 210 Wis. 2d at 674. The acts of both Dwyer and Koopmans made perfectly clear that they did not wish to be present—and in fact the decisions call their absences "voluntary." **Koopmans**, 210 Wis. 2d at 679, **Dwyer**, 181 Wis. 2d at 826. Nevertheless, this court and the court of appeals concluded they had not validly waived their statutory right to be present.

Here, Mr. Washington "semi was removed and semi left on his own" after complaining about his attorney's representation and saying there should be "no trial." Though, according to his attorney and a bailiff, he later refused to return from his jail cell, that was the extent of his communication with the court on the matter. This is not a case, like *Soto*, 343 Wis. 2d 43, ¶33, in which the defendant knowingly, intelligently and voluntarily waived a right after a thorough colloquy. Mr. Washington's verbal refusals to return to court simply made explicit what his actions had already

demonstrated: that he was voluntarily absenting himself from the courtroom. Because Wis. Stat. § 971.04(3) was not complied with, Mr. Washington's absence did not waive his right to presence, his trial *in absentia* was unlawful, and his convictions must be reversed.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, Mr. Washington respectfully requests that this court vacate his convictions and sentences and remand with directions that he receive a new trial.