# RECEIVED

#### STATE OF WISCONSIN 06-08-2017

#### IN SUPREME COUR FLERK OF SUPREME COURT OF WISCONSIN

No. 2016AP238-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

MICHAEL L. WASHINGTON,

Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner.

#### REVIEW OF A DECISION OF THE COURT OF APPEALS, DISTRICT II, AFFIRMING A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND POSTCONVICTION ORDER ENTERED IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR RACINE COUNTY, THE HONORABLE WAYNE J. MARIK, ALLAN B. TORHORST, AND DAVID W. PAULSON, PRESIDING

#### **RESPONSE BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT**

BRAD D. SCHIMEL Wisconsin Attorney General

SARAH L. BURGUNDY Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1071646

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

Benabe court distinguished its defendants' The conduct from that of the defendant in Crosby, who fled before trial commenced. The defendants in Benabe, in contrast, were disruptive and were warned of the consequences of their behavior. Accordingly, they "made a knowing and voluntary choice" when they refused to return to the courtroom. Id. at 772. Under those circumstances, "the purpose of Rule 43 certainly was served." Id. at 773; see also Cuoco v. United States, 208 F.3d 27, 31–32 (2d Cir. 2000) (holding that Crosby and Rule 43(c) exception did not prevent a defendant from validly waiving by other means his right to presence before trial commenced); Smith v. Mann, 173 F.3d 73, 76 (2d Cir. 1999) (recognizing Crosby's limited holding, observing that "in some situations the requisite knowledge [to constitute a waiver] can be conclusively found even if the defendant is not present when the trial begins").

Washington discusses *Crosby* in his brief (Washington Br. 7), but he does not address *Benabe* or the other federal circuit decisions recognizing that *Crosby* did not prevent a defendant from otherwise waiving his right to be present at trial. Moreover, Washington selectively quotes *Diaz*, (Washington Br. 8), but leaves out that case's crucial language providing that when a defendant is not in custody and voluntarily absents himself, that conduct functions as a knowing waiver. Hence, reading Wis. Stat. § 971.04(3) in harmony with its federal counterpart in Rule 43(c), a defendant's forfeitureby-absence after his initial presence at trial can operate as a valid waiver of his right to be present for the remainder of a trial. As reasoned by the Seventh Circuit in *Benabe*, *Crosby* does not hold otherwise. Because Wis. Stat. § 971.04(3) does not limit when a defendant can knowingly waive his right to be present at trial, the only question remaining is whether Washington waived his right to be present at his trial here. As shown below, he did.

# D. The record demonstrates that Washington validly waived his right to be present at trial.

On the morning of trial, Washington had an outburst in court when discussing his pattern of refusing to work with his attorneys. Washington declared "we ain't going no trial now, I mean that," the court warned him that he may be removed from the courtroom, and Washington replied, "I'm gone. She's not representing me." (R. 65:3–4.)

The court then made a record of Washington's outburst and removal from the courtroom, indicating that Washington "semi was removed and semi left on his own after the last outburst," that he had a history of manipulating the case, and that the court has consistently informed him that the trial was going forward with Attorney Paul as his counsel. (R. 65:4–5.)

After that, Washington refused at least five invitations to return. He refused to return when the afternoon session began. (R. 65:10.) The court found, given Washington's unwillingness to return and past "aggressiveness and his attitude" that forcing him to return would cause a safety risk to both Washington and court staff. (R. 65:15.) The court then set a plan for Attorney Paul to periodically confer with Washington and for Washington to be periodically advised of his right to return. (R. 65:16.)

Shortly after that ruling, Paul met with Washington and explained the court's ruling; Washington refused to participate. (R. 65:21.) The court and counsel proceeded with jury selection, which took the remainder of that day. (R. 65:22.)

The next morning, when asked, Washington again refused to come to the courtroom. (R. 66:2.) The court found that Washington was "still by his conduct refusing to come down, waiving his right to be present, so we will continue then without him." (*Id.*)

After trial began, and during a recess, Attorney Paul again made contact with Washington and reported that he did "not want to participate in trial." (R. 66:73.) The court found that Washington continued to waive his right to be present. (R. 66:73–74.)

When the jury reached a verdict the afternoon of the same day the trial began, Washington was again asked if he wanted to return; Washington again refused. (R. 66:129.)

In sum, either court staff or Washington's counsel or both asked Washington whether he wanted to be present at jury selection, at the start of trial, mid-trial, and for the return of verdict. Washington refused every invitation. Further, there is nothing in the record to indicate that Washington informed jail staff that he wished to return to the courtroom.

Under the circumstances, Washington knowingly waived his statutory right to be present. Washington's affirmative refusals to the court's invitations return to the courtroom waived his statutory right to be present for jury selection, for trial, and for the return of verdict. See, e.g., Soto, 343 Wis. 2d 43, ¶ 49 (holding that Soto affirmatively waived his right to be present at his plea hearing when he and his counsel deemed videoconferencing to be acceptable). Moreover, the court was not obligated to jeopardize the safety of court staff or prejudice the jury against Washington by forcibly escorting him to the courtroom. See State v. Vaughn, 2012 WI App 129, ¶ 26, 344 Wis. 2d 764, 823 N.W.2d 543 (refusing, based on safety concerns, to impose rule on circuit courts that they must drag "an obstreperous defendant . . . into court" to comply with palliative requirements). Accordingly, the court did not violate Washington's statutory right to be present.

# E. Washington's arguments are not persuasive.

# 1. *Dwyer* does not compel a different conclusion.

Washington primarily seeks support in *Dwyer*, 181 Wis. 2d 826, and *Koopmans*, 210 Wis. 2d 670, to the extent that the courts in those cases understood Wis. Stat. § 971.04(1) and (3) to preclude circuit courts from finding that a defendant waived, by his absence alone, his right to be present at trial or sentencing. (Washington Br. 8–10.) But Washington ignores the distinction between forfeiture by mere absence and waiver, i.e., a clear expression in words or inferred by conduct of a desire to not be present.

That distinction is important, as this Court made clear in *Soto*. In *Soto*, the defendant elected to attend his plea hearing by teleconference. 343 Wis. 2d 43, ¶ 33. On appeal, he claimed that, based on Wis. Stat. § 971.04(1)(g), he could not waive his right to be in the same courtroom as the judge during his plea hearing. *Id.* ¶ 41 n.8.

This Court disagreed, holding that a defendant could waive his right to be present under section 971.04(1)(g), and concluding that Soto waived his right to be present when he agreed to participate by teleconference. This Court distinguished Soto's waiver from the forfeiture-by-mereabsence situation in Koopmans, where Koopmans had absconded to Belize months before her sentencing. In that case, the circuit court could not infer waiver of Koopmans's statutory right to be present at her sentencing based on her absence alone. 210 Wis. 2d at 679. To that end, this Court in Soto limited Koopmans to the narrow holding "that a defendant who absents herself from sentencing, without more, has not sufficiently demonstrated waiver of her right to be physically present." Soto, 343 Wis. 2d 43, ¶ 41 n.8. Thus, like in Soto, Koopmans does not control here, where Washington waived his right to be present by causing himself to be removed and clearly expressing his desire to not attend trial.

Nor does *Dwyer*, another forfeiture-by-absence case, support Washington. In *Dwyer*, Dwyer informed the trial court during jury selection that she wanted to hire a new attorney. 181 Wis. 2d at 832. The court denied that request, and during a brief recess, Dwyer disappeared. *Id*. The court tried Dwyer in absentia over her attorney's objection. *Id*.

The court of appeals reversed, reasoning that a trial court could try a defendant in absentia when he, by his conduct, waived his right to be present. *Id.* at 837. But it further understood Wis. Stat. § 971.04(3) to allow a forfeiture by absence to operate as a waiver only if the defendant was present at the beginning of trial. *Id.* Because Dwyer absconded before trial began, i.e., before her jury was sworn, the court of appeals held that Dwyer was entitled to a new trial. *Dwyer*, 181 Wis. 2d at 837.

Dwyer is not on point. The Dwyer court understood "voluntary absence" under subsection (3) to mean conduct that would otherwise only be a forfeiture by absence. Unlike Dwyer's forfeiture by absence, i.e., her disappearance before the beginning of trial, Washington had an outburst on the morning of trial, was removed from the courtroom, and subsequently refused many informed invitations to attend his trial. Hence, the delimitation in subsection (3) does not apply here because there was no ambiguity in Washington's absence. Washington caused himself to be removed from court and expressly stated that he did not wish to return. He actively refused to attend and the court properly found that he knowingly exercised his right to waive his presence; he was not "voluntarily absent[] . . . without leave of the court." See Wis. Stat. § 971.04(3).

For that reason, Washington misses the point with his argument that if the result in *Dwyer* offended the Legislature, it could have amended Wis. Stat. § 971.04(3), but it did not. (Washington Br. 9.) Under its facts, *Dwyer* did not hold that a defendant could not waive his right to be present at trial unless he was present at its beginning; it merely held, consistent with subsection (3), that Dwyer's forfeiture could not function as a waiver where Dwyer absconded before trial began.

Finally, Washington argues that "the intentional nature of his actions is beside the point," and that absconding from trial is just as voluntary as an express choice to not be present. (Washington Br. 10.) He invokes *Dwyer* and *Koopmans* to support that point, where both defendants clearly chose to be absent by absconding, yet still were entitled to new trials. But the courts in those cases did not conclude that those defendants did not validly waive their right to be present because their absences were involuntary; they held that those voluntary absences violated the statute because they occurred before trial began and because there was nothing to indicate that they could function as knowing waivers.

In sum, there is nothing in section 971.04 or case law to prevent a court from trying a defendant in absentia when that defendant waives his right to be present during any portion of a criminal proceeding listed under Wis. Stat. § 971.04(1). Here, Washington waived his right to be present by his conduct before voir dire began. After the jury was selected, he expressly waived his right to be present at the start of and throughout trial. The court's process and procedure under the circumstances did not offend Wis. Stat. § 971.04.<sup>9</sup>

> 2. Alternatively, if *Dwyer* demands that the trial court could not have tried Washington in absentia under the circumstances, this Court should overrule it.

Alternatively, if this Court accepts Washington's position—i.e., that under *Dwyer*, his refusal to be present when the jury was sworn means that he cannot waive, as a matter of law, his presence at the remainder of trial—*Dwyer* was wrongly decided and should be overruled. As argued in sections B and C above, the language of Wis. Stat.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Washington writes that the court violated the statute because the necessary precondition that Washington needed to be present at the beginning of the trial was not satisfied, and that "[t]he [S]tate has never disputed that [the court] violated the statute in trying Mr. Washington in this way." (Washington Br. 5.) Not so. The State has consistently maintained that Washington validly waived his right to be present at trial, that subsection (3) did not invalidate Washington's waiver, and that the court did not violate the statute by trying Washington in absentia under the circumstances.

§ 971.04(3) is most reasonably read to provide that conduct that normally constitutes a forfeiture—and thus could not justify a court holding proceedings in absentia—could operate as a valid waiver once a trial has begun and warrant a trial in absentia. If *Dwyer* holds that a defendant can never waive by his conduct his right to be present at trial, its holding is inconsistent with the statutory language and this Court's holding in *Soto*.

Indeed, if *Dwyer* holds that a court can never hold a trial in absentia for a defendant who is not present when the jury is sworn, the facts of this case demonstrate why that interpretation of Wis. Stat. § 971.04(3) is unworkable. A defendant could endlessly sandbag his trial so long as he prevents himself from being present before the jury is sworn, by either expressly waiving his right or by engaging in conduct that requires his removal from the courtroom. A defendant doing the latter could especially profit if his behavior demands his removal while a jury is being selected or just before it is sworn, given the risk that that behavior would prejudice the jury panel or pool and result in further delays.

Moreover, Washington fails to offer in his brief any suggestion of what the court should have done under the circumstances. The trial court made a detailed record of Washington's long pattern of trying to derail the trial by making and withdrawing speedy trial requests and refusing to work with his appointed attorneys. When the day of trial finally arrived, he had an outburst in which he removed himself or was removed, and he steadfastly refused the court's many invitations for him to return. The court of appeals, in commending the trial court's remarks that a disruptive defendant cannot endlessly delay a trial: "[i]t would degrade our country and our judicial system to permit our courts to be bullied, insulted, and humiliated and their orderly progress thwarted and obstructed by defendants brought before them charged with crimes." *Washington*, 373 Wis. 2d 214, ¶ 20 (quoting *Allen*, 397 U.S. at 346).

#### F. Even if the court erred, Washington is not entitled to relief because any error was harmless.

Violations of a defendant's right to be present under Wis. Stat. § 971.04 are subject to a harmless error analysis. State v. Peterson, 220 Wis. 2d 474, 489, 584 N.W.2d 144 (Ct. App. 1998). An error is harmless if it does not "affect the substantial rights of the adverse party." Wis. Stat. § 805.18(1). An error affects the adverse party's substantial rights if there is a reasonable possibility of a different outcome. State v. Dyess, 124 Wis. 2d 525, 544-45, 370 N.W.2d 222 (1985). A reasonable possibility is one in which the error, considered in the context of the whole trial, undermines confidence in the outcome. Id. at 545.

Looking at the whole trial, any violation of Washington's statutory right to be present at his trial was harmless for four reasons.

First, Attorney Paul fully participated in the jury selection and trial, which meant that Washington's interests were represented throughout. See, e.g., Peterson, 220 Wis. 2d at 489–90 (finding harmless error in Peterson's absence where Peterson's attorney "was present and fully participated in the proceedings"). Here, Attorney Paul participated in voir dire (R. 65:22–73); she convinced the court to take steps to avoid prejudice against Washington if the State used a booking photo for identification (R. 66:11– 12); she made an opening statement (R. 66:29–32); she crossexamined the State's witnesses (R. 66:47-53, 55-56, 69-71, 72-73, 81-82); she moved for dismissal and judgment

notwithstanding the verdict at the close of the State's case (R. 66:86, 135); she convinced the court to instruct the jury on voluntary intoxication (R. 66:88–95); and she made a closing argument (R. 66:106–10). Paul also conferred with Washington before and during trial, and reminded the court to check whether Washington wanted to be present for the verdict. (R. 66:2, 73, 129.)

Second, there was nothing more Attorney Paul could have done in defending Washington given that the State's case was strong, simple, and left little to dispute. R.V. confronted Washington in R.V.'s home, watched Washington leave and cross the street with a bag and backpack, and saw police confront and arrest Washington minutes later. The items found in Washington's possession were R.V.'s. During the arrest, Washington ignored an officer's warnings to stop, walked toward the officer, and had to be tased. This was not an intensive trial full of competing facts and inferences. There was no basis for Washington to claim that he was not the burglar; the evidentiary portion, from start to finish, took just a few hours and involved three witnesses.

Given that, Attorney Paul argued the only possible defense available, which was that Washington was too intoxicated to form the requisite intent to commit the crimes. To support that defense, Paul emphasized that Washington was significantly impaired and behaving bizarrely during and after the crime. As noted above, Paul also successfully persuaded the court to instruct the jury on voluntary intoxication. In all, Paul ably presented the only defense available to Washington.

Third, the court took steps to ensure that the jurors would not allow Washington's absence to affect their verdict. The court instructed the jury pool that Washington was not present, that he had a right to be present, and that in this case, Washington waived that right. The court reiterated that the jurors must not draw any inferences from Washington's absence or allow it to affect their verdict. Potential jurors were asked whether Washington's absence would affect them; the two potential jurors who said that it would were dismissed. Finally, before deliberations, the court again instructed the jury that Washington had a right to be present, that he waived that right, and that his absence could not influence its verdict. There is nothing to indicate that the jury ignored those instructions. *State v. Truax*, 151 Wis. 2d 354, 362, 444 N.W.2d 432 (Ct. App. 1989) (appellate court "presume[s] that the jury follows the instructions given to it").

Fourth, Washington does not identify anything that happened during jury selection or trial that he would have asked Paul to handle differently. *See Peterson*, 220 Wis. 2d at 489 (deeming error harmless where "Peterson does not advance on appeal any specific contribution he would have made had he been present"). Indeed, the court and Attorney Paul expressed concerns that Washington was more likely to be prejudiced if the jury saw him being escorted into court against his will, or saw him engaging in disruptive conduct.<sup>10</sup> Accord Vaughn, 344 Wis. 2d 764, ¶ 26. Those were reasonable concerns under the circumstances.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> In addition to the circuit court's findings on Washington's conduct and behavior, at a *Machner* hearing in this case, Attorney Paul testified that Washington was a difficult client, constantly proposing unviable defenses and declining to permit Paul to investigate other defenses. Paul also stated that Washington would get upset when she tried to redirect him to important issues, saying that at one point when she visited him, he stormed out of the room and said that she did not represent him. (R. 68:9–16, 21–22.)

In short, Washington knowingly waived his right to be present at trial. Wisconsin Stat. § 971.04(3) does not apply, because this case did not involve a forfeiture by mere absence. Finally, even if the court erred, Washington is not entitled to relief because any error was harmless.

#### CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the State respectfully asks that this Court affirm the decision of the court of appeals.